Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-21-2008

Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34797

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a) Nature of the Case.

Goodman Oil Company ("Goodman") appeals the dismissal on summary judgment of its breach of contract claim and other related claims against Respondents Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. ("Duro-Bilt"), and Bart and Alane McKnight ("McKnight") ("Respondents" collectively). Appellant contends that Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. breached an agreement to vacate First Avenue South in Nampa, Idaho, when it revoked its consent to the vacation, and that as a result of Respondents' interference, Goodman's sale of its property failed to close.

b) Course of Proceedings Below.

Goodman filed its Complaint in this matter on September 19, 2005, alleging four causes of action against the Respondents: (1) breach of contract, (2) tortious interference with purchase and sale agreement, (3) negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, and (4) intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. R., p.6. On September 29, 2006, the district court dismissed McKnight individually (R., pp. 81-83), a result of McKnight's 12(b)(6) motion. R., p. 46. On November 7, 2006, the district court dismissed Goodman's causes of action two (2) through four (4) but did not dismiss Goodman's breach of contract claim. R., pp. 150-153. Duro-Bilt then brought a second motion for summary judgment on December 27, 2006, as to Goodman's remaining cause of action. The district court granted Duro-Bilt's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 9, 2007. R., pp. 223-224. Goodman moved for reconsideration of

this order on February 23, 2007. The district court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration on April 2, 2007, in a document entitled "Order." See R, pp. 294-297.

On June 1, 2007, Respondents moved the court for entry of final judgment P., p 336. On August 7, 2007, the court entered its Order for Attorney Fees and Costs. R, p. 348-350. Mindful of I.R.C.P 58(a), Goodman then moved the court to enter a final judgment on October 16, 2007. R., p. 355. Respondents opposed the motion and the district court ruled on November 15, 2007, that final orders had already been entered and that the time for appeal had expired. R., pp. 416-417.

Goodman filed its Notice of Appeal on November 23, 2007. R., pp. 419-426.

c) Statement of Facts.

On August 2, 1995, Goodman entered into a Property Vacation Agreement with Duro-Bilt, the Blamires Family Trust, and T. J. Forest, Inc.. R., p. 17. Bart McKnight is the president and owner of Duro-Bilt. R. p. 3 para 12 and R., p. 39, para. 12; R., p. 55.

In the Vacation Agreement, the parties exchanged mutual promises consenting to Nampa's vacation of First Avenue South. The parties granted and conveyed among themselves a perpetual easement upon the vacated property for the purpose of access to and from their property. The parties agreed to fully cooperate to ensure that the purpose and intent of the Vacation Agreement was accomplished, and to equally share in the maintenance of the easement in proportion to the amount of property they owned which adjoins First Avenue South. R., pp 17-22.

Prior to vacation, Goodman's property consisted of over 36,800 square feet.

Blamires' property consisted of over 17,250 square feet. Forest owned 3,750 square feet.

Duro-Bilt owned a single lot of 2,850 square feet.

First Avenue South, prior to its vacation, ran north and south and was a street of eighty (80') feet in width and three hundred (300') feet in length. The actual constructed roadway is forty (40') feet in width, back of curb to back of curb. R., p. 54.

Goodman owns property on both sides of the street. Lots 7, 8, 9, 11 and 12 (each fifty (50') feet in width) are located on the west side of the vacated street. Lots 4, 5 and 6 (each fifty (50') feet in width) are located on the east side of the vacated street. R., p. 55.

Duro-Bilt is the owner of Lot 10 located on the west side of the vacated street. Lot 10 is bordered by Goodman property to the north (Lot 11) to the south (Lot 9), and following vacation of First Avenue South, to the east. R., p. 55

On August 3, 1995, Goodman submitted an application to Nampa for vacation of First Avenue South. On August 24, 1995, Mr. Holm, Nampa Planning Director, prepared a Staff Report. The Staff Report lists the applicant as the adjoining property owners, Goodman, Duro-Bilt, Blamires, and Forest. On September 5, 1995, a public hearing was held and the Nampa City Council (hereafter "Council") approved the vacation of First Avenue South between 2nd Street South and 3rd Street South. R., p. 55-56.

However, the vacation ordinance ("Ordinance No. 3374") was not approved until August 16, 2004. R., p. 58.

On July 28, 2004, Goodman and James R. Wylie ("Wylie") signed a Purchase and Sale Agreement whereby Goodman agreed to sell its property. The sale price was Six Hundred Thousand (\$600,000) Dollars to be paid in cash at closing. The only contingency was completing the vacation of First Avenue South in a manner acceptable to Goodman and Wylie. R., pp. 56-57.

In August of 2004, Goodman and Wylie informed Respondents of this sale and that the sale was contingent upon the successful vacation of First Avenue South. R., p. 57.

On August 4, 2004, the Nampa Fire Department provided written conditional approval of development plans for the vacated property and the property owned by Goodman. The development plans had been submitted by Goodman's purchaser - Wylie. The Nampa Fire Department approved the vacation of First Avenue South subject to a dedicated twenty (20') foot wide fire apparatus access road. The Fire Department also requested Wylie to obtain the consent, once again, of the adjoining property owners, including Respondents. R., p. 57.

After signing the Goodman/Wylie Purchase and Sale Agreement, Wylie visited McKnight 3 or 4 times during July and August of 2004. Wylie told McKnight about the pending sale and the need to complete the street vacation. It is undisputed that Respondents had knowledge of the Goodman/Wylie Purchase and Sale Agreement and that Respondents knew the sale was contingent upon the vacation of First Avenue South. R., p. 57

Wylie asked Duro-Bilt to sign the consent requested by the Fire Department. Wylie will testify that McKnight agreed to sign the consent form presented to him after the other property owners signed. After Wylie obtained the consent of the other property owners, he returned to Duro-Bilt. Duro-Bilt then refused its consent. R., p. 57.

On August 16, 2004, the vacation ordinance ("Ordinance No. 3374") was approved by the Council and the Mayor. R., p. 58.

Respondents' efforts to interdict Ordinance No. 3374 began with McKnight speaking to a Nampa City Clerk and telling the City Clerk he no longer consented to the vacation of First Avenue South and wished to prevent Ordinance No. 3374 from going into effect. The City Clerk directed McKnight to call the City Attorney, Mr. White. McKnight called the City Attorney that same day and voiced his objections to Ordinance No. 3374. McKnight was told by Mr. White that, "they could withdraw this if I talked to the mayor." McKnight then again that same day called Nampa City Hall, spoke to Mayor Dale, and explained his objection to the vacation. Mayor Dale agreed to veto Ordinance No. 3374. McKnight specifically recalled this exchange in his deposition testimony: "I asked him [the Mayor] if there was a way to pull this off of being published, and he said, 'Yes, I can veto it." R., pp. 58-59.

An e-mail dated August 19, 2004, from the City Clerk, Diana Lambing, had the following message to deputy clerks at the Nampa City Clerks office:

Hi Kids!

Just a little note to let you know that at the Mayor and Terry White's direction, I pulled this Ordinance for Vacation of First Avenue South from being published. One of the property owners is not in agreement anymore. So it is on hold until further notice. Thanks.

R., p. 59.

On September 2nd, Mayor Dale vetoed Ordinance No. 3374. It was Mayor Dale's only veto since the beginning of his term. This is the only veto seen by Planning Director Holm in his 27 years with the City of Nampa. R., p. 59.

Mayor Dale and McKnight are friends and had been on a ski trip to Sun Valley in March of 2004. R., p. 59

In his deposition, Mayor Dale confirmed McKnight's material, *ex parte* contact, recalling that "he [McKnight] conveyed to me that, as a property owner on that street, he did not agree to the vacation at this time." Concerning his decision to veto Ordinance No. 3374, the Mayor stated:

[O]ne of the ways of dealing with this was with a veto. Another way was to bring it back before city council. Because, since the ordinance had not been published, it had not become law at this time. And the city council could have brought it back and reconsidered it and voted on it. It was my decision that the most expedient way to do it was through the veto.

R., p. 60.

Goodman's transaction with Wylie failed by reason that the vacation had not been completed in an acceptable manner. R., p. 60.

Planning Director Holm stated in his deposition that all that was required from the adjoining owners to effect a vacation was a simple note establishing that all adjoining landowners had consented. Holm also testified that the Property Vacation Agreement, signed by Duro-Bilt, was more formal and detailed than the usual consents received for street vacations. Holm knows of no source of authority allowing the Nampa Fire Department to request an access easement be reserved in a street vacation ordinance. Holm also had no expectation that a detailed easement would be submitted to the City of Nampa until such time as the property owner or developer sought a building permit. R., pp. 60-61.

McKnight not only intentionally breached the Property Vacation Agreement but also actively undermined Goodman's opportunity to sell its property to Wylie. Goodman subsequently filed suit against the City of Nampa to overturn the veto. Goodman succeeded in obtaining a writ of mandate ordering the vacation ordinance to be published.

See Goodman Oil Company v. City of Nampa, et al., Case No. CV 04-10007. R., p. 11, para. 42. Goodman then filed suit against Respondents.

The companion case of *Goodman v. City of Nampa*, Supreme Court No. 34284 concerns Judge Morfitt's dismissal of McKnight and Duro-Bilt from the original suit.

II.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant raises these issues on appeal:

- a) Did Goodman file a timely Notice of Appeal?
- b) Did the District Court err by dismissing Respondents Bart and Alane McKnight?
- c) Did the District Court err by granting Summary Judgment to Respondents Duro-Bilt?
- d) Did the District Court err by awarding attorney's fees to Respondents and is Goodman entitled to attorney fees in this appeal?

III.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in passing upon a motion for summary judgment. *Kolln v. Saint Luke's Regl. Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 327, 940 P.2d 1142, 1146 (1997). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, and discovery documents on file with the court, read in a light most favorable to the

nonmoving party, demonstrate no material issue of fact such that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Badell v. Beeks*, 115 Idaho 101, 102, 765 P.2d 126, 127 (1988) (citing I.R.C.P. 56(c)). "In making this determination, all allegations of fact in the record, and all reasonable inferences from the record are construed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." *City of Kellogg v. Mission Mountain Interests Ltd.*, 135 Idaho 239, 243, 16 P.3d 915, 919 (2000). If the evidence reveals no genuine issue as to any material fact, then all that remains is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Yoakum v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 129 Idaho 171, 175, 923 P.2d 416, 420 (1996).

The standard for review of a 12(b)(6) motion is the same as that applicable to motions for summary judgment. *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.2d 1157, 1159 (2002).

IV.

ARGUMENT

a) Goodman's Notice Of Appeal Was Timely.

The district court found that a final judgment was entered in this case on April 2, 2007, when the district court rejected Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. Following the April 2, 2007 decision the district court failed to grant Respondent's and Goodman's Motion for Entry of Judgment. The district court erred.

Goodman asserts that the district court's April 2, 2007, decision is not a final judgment because of the "separate document" requirement of I.R.C.P. 58(a) and therefore no final judgment has been entered in this case.

Respondents brought their Motion for Entry of Judgment on June 1, 2007. R., pp. 334-344. The district court did not rule on Respondents' Motion for Entry of Judgment.

Idaho Appellate Rule 14(a) sets forth the time for taking an appeal from the district court and provides in pertinent part as follows:

Any appeal as a matter of right from the district court may be made only by physically filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the district court within 42 days from the date evidenced by the filing stamp of the clerk of the court on any judgment, order or decree of the district court appealable as a matter of right in any civil ... action.

I.R.C.P. 58(a) provides for the entry of a final judgment from which an appeal lies, stating:

Subject to the provisions of Rule 54(b):

(2) upon a decision by the court granting other relief ..., the court shall approve the form and sign the judgment, and the clerk shall thereupon enter it. Every judgment shall be set forth on a separate document.

The present Rule 58(a) was adopted in 1992. The Reporter for the Supreme Court Rules Committee explained the reasons for the 1992 amendment as follows:

4. Rule 58(a) – This is a substantial amendment to this rule dealing with the method of an entry of judgment. The impetus for this rule arose in the Appellate Rules Committee which found that in recent years there have been a number of situations in which the Supreme Court has ruled that a memorandum decision of a trial court was in fact a "final judgment" from which the time to appeal commenced to run. Quite a number of attorneys have been caught off base with this as they did not file the notice of appeal within 42 days of the memorandum decision ... For all of these reasons, the Appellate Rules Committee felt that the rule should be amended so that there must be a separate judgment document so that all parties will know that the time to appeal has commenced to run. The Appellate Rules Committee therefore suggested that this rule be amended, and the Civil Rules Committee concurred, so as to amend the rule to adopt language out of the corresponding federal rule that "Every judgment shall be set forth on a separate

document." If a memorandum decision grants a motion for summary judgment, that [sic] this must be followed by a judgment which has to be set forth on a separate document.

L. Davis, *Highlights of 1992 Rules Changes*, The Idaho State Bar Advocate, Vol. 35, No. 6, (June 1992), pullout section at 5.¹

This Court has dealt directly with the meaning and application of the "separate document" requirement in I.R.C.P. 58(a). In *Hunting v. Clark County School Dist.*, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997), the respondent/defendant therein claimed appellant/plaintiff's appeal was untimely given appellant's appeal was filed more than 42 days after the district court entered an "Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment," stating that '[p]laintiff's complaint is dismissed with prejudice,' [which according to respondent/defendant] served as a judgment set forth on a separate document, pursuant to I.R.C.P. 58(a)." *See Id.* at 637, 931 P.2d at 631. This Court found that such an order was not "a judgment set forth on a separate document" as required

As noted in the *Advocate* article, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58 contains the identical requirement of Idaho Rule 58(a) that "[e]very judgment shall be set forth on a separate document." In reversing a lower court decision holding an appeal untimely under Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a), the United States Supreme Court discussed the purpose behind the inclusion of the separate judgment requirement in Federal Rule 58, stating as follows:

Prior to 1963, there was considerable uncertainty over what actions of the district court would constitute an entry of judgment, and occasional grief to litigants as a result of this uncertainty. (Citations omitted.) To eliminate these uncertainties, which spawned protracted litigation over a technical procedural matter, Rule 58 was amended to require that a judgment was to be effective only when set forth on a separate document.

The separate document provision ... "was needed to make certain when a judgment becomes effective which has a most important bearing, inter alia, on the time for appeal ..." (Citation omitted.)

United States v. Indrehmas, 411 U.S. 216, 220 (1973); citing 6A J. Moore Federal Practice 58.04 (4. – 2) at 158-161 (1972); see also Allah v. Superior Court, 871 F.2d 887 (9th Cir. 1988) where the Ninth Circuit held that "[a] judgment or order is not entered within the meaning of Rule 4(a) ... unless it is entered in compliance with Rule 58 and 79(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure" and "[a]bsent compliance with these requirements, 'a party will not ordinarily be found to have exceeded any of the time periods set forth in Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)." Id. at 889. (citations omitted.)

under I.R.C.P. 58(a). *Id*. This Court found that the document constituting the final judgment in the case was the separate document entered several months later by the district court that was entitled "Judgment." *Id*. The Court found, therefore, the Appellant's appeal was timely. *Id*.

The rule that a final judgment must be a "separate document" was also examined in Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd., 137 Idaho 850, 55 P.3d 304 (2002) — a case analogous to this one. In Camp, the district court had entered partial judgments in favor of the respondent/defendant on all claims in the case except the appellant/plaintiff's cause of action for malicious prosecution. Id. at 866, 55 P.3d at 320. Later, the district court entered an order on November 24, 1999, stating, "Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to Malicious Prosecution Claim is hereby GRANTED," and the respondent/defendant submitted a memorandum of costs for prevailing on that count. Id. at 867, 55 P.3d at 321. The appellant/plaintiff objected on the ground that it was untimely because it was filed more than 14 days after the above final judgment (as characterized by the appellant/plaintiff) was entered as required under I.R.C.P. 54(d)(5); the district court agreed. Id. at 866, 55 P.3d at 320. This Court overruled the district court and held:

The order simply granting summary judgment does not constitute a judgment dismissing a count [for malicious prosecution] in Camp's second amended complaint. Hunting v. Clark County School Dist. No. 161, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997). Although the partial judgments previously entered by the district court resolved counts one, two, four, and five of the second amended complaint and the counterclaims, there was no final judgment until a judgment was entered resolving count three [of malicious prosecution] of the second amended complaint. That judgment was not entered until May 23, 2002. Therefore, the amended memorandum of costs filed by the Ditch Company on December 22, 1999, was timely. Although it was filed before entry of a final judgment, a

memorandum of costs prematurely filed is considered timely. Great Plains Equip., Inc. v. Northwest Pipeline Corp., 136 Idaho 466, 36 P.3d 218 (2001); IDAHO R. CIV. P. 54(d)(5).

Id. 368, 55 P.3d 322 (footnote omitted).

The separate judgment requirement was also recently considered by this Court in *In re Universe Life Ins. Co.*, --P.3d --, 2007 WL 914049, Idaho 2007, Opinion No. 31194. Therein, the district court made two partial rulings via summary judgment and this Court found neither constituted "a final judgment because neither it nor the earlier memorandum decision and order constituted a judgment. They were simply orders granting summary judgment." *Id.* at p. 9. Specifically, this Court stated:

An order granting summary judgment does not constitute a judgment. Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd., 137 Idaho 850, 55 P.3d 304 (2002); Hunting v. Clark County School Dist. No. 161, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997). "Every judgment shall be set forth on a separate document." I.R.C.P. 58(a); accord, Hunting v. Clark County School Dist. No. 161, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997).

In this case, the district court's April 2, 2007, document entitled "Order" was not a judgment. Neither party treated it as an appealable Order. Respondent moved for entry of judgment following the April 2, 2007 Order. It was simply an order denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration and no language in the order states the case is resolved. R., pp. 294-297

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