UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-20-2009

Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34797

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

ARGUMENT

A. Goodman Oil's Notice Of Appeal Was Untimely; Therefore, This Court Must Dismiss This Appeal.

First, brief recap of the relevant orders affecting the timeliness of Goodman Oil's notice of appeal: The district court dismissed the McKnights on September 20, 2006. The district court denied Goodman Oil's motion for reconsideration of that issue on November 7, 2006. On that date, the district court also dismissed counts two through four of Goodman Oil's complaint. The district court granted Duro-Bilt's motion for summary judgment as to the final count of the complaint on February 9, 2007. Goodman Oil's motion for reconsideration of that issue was denied on April 2, 2007. The district court issued its order awarding the Duro-Bilt defendants costs and attorney fees on August 7, 2007. Only on November 23, 2007, after its unsuccessful attempts to prolong its 42-day appeal-filing period failed, did Goodman Oil file a notice of appeal.

Those facts demonstrate that Goodman Oil's notice of appeal is untimely. Idaho App. R. 14(a) provides that any appeal as a matter of right from the district court may be made only by filing a notice of appeal within 42 days of the district court's judgment, order, or decree. That same rule also provides that the time to appeal is extended by the filing of a timely motion which, if granted, could affect any findings of fact, conclusions of law or any judgment in the action—and motions for attorney fees, or objections thereto, are explicitly excluded from the class of such motions. Here, an appeal of the non-attorney fees portion of the case was due

within 42 days of April 2, 2007, which would have been May 14, 2007. An appeal of the attorney fees award would have been due on September 18, 2007. Goodman Oil's notice of appeal was late. Lateness is jurisdictional. Idaho App. R. 21.

Goodman Oil contends that no "separate document," which it says is required by Idaho R. Civ. P. 58(a), has issued and hence, no final judgment has been entered in this case.¹ Brief for Appellants, p. 8. Goodman Oil is wrong. Idaho Code section 13-201 provides that an appeal may be taken "from such orders and judgments . . . as prescribed by rule of the Supreme Court." Idaho R. Civ. P. 54(a) says that a "judgment" is any decree or order from which an appeal lies. Idaho App. R. 11 identifies judgments and orders from which appeal may be taken as a matter of right, but, as this Court has observed, that rule does define "final" judgments, orders, or decrees. *Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., LTD*, 137 Idaho 850, 866-67, 55 P.3d 304, 320-21 (2002).

Hence, "[w]hether an instrument is an appealable order must be determined by its content and substance, and not by its title." *Id.* at 867, 50 P.3d at 321 (citing *Idah-Best, Inc. v. First Sec. Bank of Idaho, N.A.*, 99 Idaho 517, 584 P.2d 1242 (1978)). The "general rule," this Court has said, is that "a final judgment is an order or judgment that ends the lawsuit, adjudicates and represents a final determination of the rights of the parties." *Id.* (citing *Davis v. Peacock*, 133 Idaho 637, 991 P.2d 362 (1999)).

In this case, the April 2, 2007, order meets the definition of a final judgment. The last order, which dismissed the final remaining count of Goodman Oil's complaint, issued on

¹ If no final appealable order has been issued, the appeal must be dismissed as only interlocutory orders have been issued. If this is an appeal of interlocutory orders, Goodman Oil did not follow the procedures set out in Idaho App. R. 12, and regardless, the deadline to appeal those orders has long since passed.

February 9, 2007. (R. Vol. II, p. 223.) No further issues were left to be decided. The suit was over. Goodman Oil did timely file a motion for reconsideration. That motion precipitated the final, appealable order in this suit, the April 2, 2007, order. First, as to form, it was set forth on a separate document, as Idaho R. Civ. P. 58(a) requires. Second, in substance, it ended the suit. It accomplished the following: (1) it denied Goodman Oil's motion for reconsideration of the February 9, 2007, order and awarded Duro-Bilt costs and attorney fees; (2) awarded the McKnights costs and attorney fees in the amounts requested; (3) awarded Duro-Bilt costs and attorney fees for defending counts two through four of Goodman's complaint; and (4) denied Duro-Bilt's request for costs and attorney fees for defending count one of Goodman Oil's complaint. (R. Vol. II, pp. 295-97.) In short, it "end[ed] the suit, adjudicate[ed] the subject matter of the controversy, and represent[ed] a final determination of the rights of the parties." *Davis v. Peacock*, 133 Idaho at 641, 991 P.2d at 366.

Goodman Oil seeks refuge in *Hunting v. Clark County School Dist. No. 161*, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997), but that case provides no safety for Goodman Oil's position. *Hunting* held that an order granting the defendant's motion for summary judgment, stating that "[p]laintiff's complaint is dismissed with prejudice" was not a "judgment set forth on a separate document" as contemplated by Idaho R. Civ. P. 58(a). 129 Idaho at 637, 931 P.3d at 631 (brackets in opinion of Court). Rather, the Court held that the district court's later document was the "separate document" constituting a judgment. *Id.* This is different than the situation here, where, after a final order adjudicating the entire controversy issued, a motion for reconsideration was filed, considered, and rejected. Indeed, this Court has, post-*Hunting*, held

that partial judgments resolving five counts and the counterclaims were not final, but that the judgment resolving the last count was. *Camp*, 137 Idaho at 868, 55 P.3d at 322.

A final "order" followed by a final "judgment" does not modify the effect of the earlier order. "A trial court cannot unilaterally extend the time to file an appeal by simply attaching the term 'final judgment' to a document." *Walton, Inc. v. Jensen*, 132 Idaho 716, 720, 979 P.2d 119, 123 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Equal Water Rights Assn. v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, 110 Idaho 247, 249, 715 P.2d 917 *on reh'g* (1986) (the court's earlier order, which included a comprehensive adjudication and represented a final determination of the parties' rights was the final judgment in the case; the subsequent document entitled "final judgment" was not).

From the district court's orders in this case, there can be little doubt that the April 2, 2007, order was indeed a final, appealable order. As this Court's precedents make clear, the focus is on what the document in question *does*, not what it is *called*. Issuance of another document entitled "Final Judgment" and simply re-stating all that had already been stated, would have put the case in the same category as the case in *Equal Water Rights Association*. Goodman Oil contends the April 2, 2007, order did not resolve the case, but this contention does not pass the straight-face test. There is no question that the entire case was resolved and that there was nothing more to do. Goodman Oil makes also much of the fact that Duro-Bilt filed a motion for entry of judgment. Duro-Bilt's motion for entry of judgment, as the record clearly indicates, was aimed solely at obtaining a determination on the matter of attorney fees and costs. (R. Vol. III, p. 336.) Goodman Oil's suggestion otherwise is flatly incorrect.

Moreover, to the extent this Court finds useful decisions of the federal courts of appeals, interpreting a nearly identical rule, these decisions uniformly follow a substance-over-form approach and support Duro-Bilt's position. See Casey v. Albertson's, Inc., 362 F.3d 1254, 1259 (9th Cir. 2004) ("We have found no cases that apply Rule 58... as a sword to reopen a case in which the parties and the judge all have indicated that they treat a district court entry as a final, separate judgment."); Kirkland v. Legion Ins. Co., 343 F.3d 1135, 1139 (9th Cir, 2003) (although no formal final judgment was entered, the order in question had all the characteristics of a final judgment as it ended the litigation on the merits and left the court nothing to do but execute the judgment); Trotter v. Regents of Univ. of New Mexico, 219 F.3d 1179, 1183 (10th Cir. 2000) ("because Rule 58 was designed solely to eliminate uncertainty, 'the separate document rule does not apply where there is no question about the finality of the court's decision." (citation omitted)); Gross v. Burggraf Constr. Co., 53 F.3d 1531, 1536 (10th Cir. 1995) (since Rule 58 applies where there is uncertainty regarding whether a final judgment has been entered, the absence of a separate Rule 58 order did not prohibit appellate review where there was no question regarding the finality of the district court's order); Beaudry Motor Co. v. Abko Props. Inc., 780 F.2d 751, 754-55 (9th Cir 1986) (holding that a civil minute order satisfied Rule 58 where it by its language it was clearly a decision of the Court and where it "put plaintiff's counsel on notice that an order had been entered against his client"); Simmons v. Ghent, 970 F.2d 392 (7th Cir 1992) (the failure to file a separate judgment order was not an issue as the court's intention to terminate the litigation was clear); Hummer v. Dalton, 657 F.2d 621 624 (4th Cir. 1981) (where decisions of the district court were plainly intended to be "final decisions in the case," were recorded on the docket and were understood and accepted by the plaintiff as final for purposes of filing an appeal, the reason for the application of Rule 58 was not present).

In the end, the April 2, 2007, order meets the definition of a final judgment, from which an appeal was due within 42 days. But the notice of appeal did not come until well after that date. To hold for Goodman Oil in this instance would allow a party who has missed its time to file an appeal to re-open the case and preserve its time to appeal, even when the whole case had long been adjudicated.

B. If the Court Determines the Appeal Was Timely, It Should Nevertheless Affirm the District Court's Dismissal of the McKnights.

Goodman Oil contends that the district court erred by dismissing Bart and Alane McKnight from the suit. Brief for Appellants p. 13. Goodman Oil is wrong. In short, the Complaint demonstrates that the viability of Goodman's tort-based claims against the McKnights individually necessarily depends on the McKnights being personally responsible for the actions of the company. There was neither allegation nor evidence to support such a conclusion, and hence, the district court did not err in dismissing the McKnights.

The factual basis for the tortious conduct is Duro-Bilt's alleged withdrawal of its consent to the Vacation Agreement. Goodman Oil alleges in its complaint that "[s]ometime after August 17, 2004, but prior to August 23, 2004, Defendant McKnight contacted the City and attempted to withdraw *Duro-Bilt's consent* to the vacation of First Avenue South." (R. Vol. I, p. 10) (emphasis added). Goodman Oil presented evidence of this alleged withdrawal of Duro-Bilt's consent in the form of Exhibit D to its Complaint, which unambiguously identifies the author as

the President and Owner of Duro-Bilt in his capacity as such. (R. Vol. I, p. 33.) There are no other factual allegations of tortious conduct.

The legal allegations similarly relate to the actions of Duro-Bilt. Counts two through four of Goodman Oil's Complaint concern tortious conduct with the Goodman Oil/Wylie Purchase and Sale Agreement. In each count, the sole factual allegation about that conduct concerns Duro-Bilt's alleged withdrawal of its consent to the Vacation Agreement. For instance, Count One identifies the tortious conduct as follows: "By attempting to withdraw its consent to the Vacation Agreement, Defendants [sic] interfered with the contract between Goodman and Wylie." (R. Vol. I, p. 13.) In Count Three, Goodman Oil alleges that "[b]y notifying the City of Nampa of the withdrawal of their consent to the vacation of First Avenue South, the Defendants disrupted Goodman's relationship with Wylie[,] causing the sale to fail." (R. Vol. I, p. 13.) Count Four uses the same language as exists in Count Three. Thus, the only allegedly tortious conduct is the alleged revocation of consent to the Vacation Agreement.

And only the company can revoke its consent to the Vacation Agreement. The McKnights cannot be responsible for the alleged withdrawal of consent unless they did so in whatever capacity they may have with the Company. It is the *company's* consent that was withdrawn, not the McKnights' consent. There is no dispute that neither Bart nor Alane McKnight were parties to the Vacation Agreement in their individual capacities. (R. Vol. I, p. 8 (allegation in Complaint that "Defendant McKnight, President of Duro-Bilt, executed the Vacation Agreement on behalf of Duro-Bilt"); p. 17 (Vacation Agreement; identifying parties); p. 19 (same; showing Bart McKnight's signature for Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc.).)

Just as the factual and legal allegations concern only conduct of the company, so does Goodman Oil's claim for relief: It seeks relief solely against Duro-Bilt and not against the McKnights individually. (R. Vol. I, p. 15.)

The upshot is that each tort-based count concerns alleged tortious activity of the company—there is no allegation that Bart or Alane McKnight as individuals committed any conduct which could supply the basis for the tort-based claims in Goodman Oil's Complaint—and no relief is sought against the McKnights individually. Goodman Oil's conclusory contention that its tort-based claims "are directed at McKnight for his tortious conduct both as an individual and as the alter ego of Duro-Bilt," Brief for Appellants, p. 14, is, therefore, entirely incorrect. The district court was correct to dismiss the McKnights from the suit.

Goodman Oil contends, nevertheless, that "[t]he tortious interference allegations of Counts II, III, and IV are made against all respondents." Brief of Appellants, p. 13. "These tortious theories of recovery," says Goodman Oil, "have their own elements and do not include 'piercing the corporate veil." Brief for Appellants, p. 13. The key inquiry is not whether the corporate veil can be pierced, but whether Goodman Oil alleged tortious conduct against, or sought relief from, the McKnights individually. It did not. Indeed, the very case Goodman Oil cites, *Davis v. Professional Business Services, Inc.*, 109 Idaho 810, 712 P.2d 511 (1985), does not support the position Goodman Oil takes here. In that case, the plaintiff sought to hold the president of the defendant billing service company liable for her conduct. The plaintiff argued that the claim sounded in tort, and hence, the president could be held liable once the corporate veil was pierced. The Court, however, held that the claim sounded in contract and reversed the judgment against the president. 109 Idaho at 815, 712 P.2d at 516. So, the plaintiff argued in the alternative that the president was liable because her actions constituted tortious interference with contracts between the plaintiff and its patients. *Id.* But the Court observed that "[n]othing in plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint alleges any such tort." *Id.* While the opinion does not appear to include all the allegations in the complaint, it is clear that where the plaintiff failed to allege the president committed tortious conduct, it could not maintain such a claim against her.

The same situation presents in this case. The allegations relate to conduct of the company; the complaint seeks relief only from the company. The Court should not indulge Goodman Oil's post-hoc attempts to reconstruct its pleadings now.

C. The District Court's Grant of Summary Judgment in Duro-Bilt's Favor Must Be Affirmed.

1. Goodman Oil has not demonstrated reversible error in the district court's grant of summary judgment on the breach of contract claim.

After dismissing the tort-based claims, the district court later granted summary judgment to Duro-Bilt on Count One of the Complaint, breach of contract. In announcing her findings from the bench, the district judge stated that the Vacation Agreement was not ambiguous. (Tr. p. 103, LL. 19-21.) She indicated also that the street had not then been vacated. (Tr. p. 104, LL. 1-3). Having recognized that the interpretation of a contract is the province of the courts, Tr. p. 103, LL. 5-6, the district judge ruled that the Vacation Agreement had not been breached because performance was not yet due, noting that performance was required only after vacation had been accomplished. (Tr. p. 104, LL. 3-7.) Thus, the Duro-Bilt's performance of the provision in the

Vacation Agreement that Duro-Bilt grant a perpetual easement was not due because the contract itself called for this to occur post-vacation. (Tr. p. 104, LL. 8-14.)

The judge also ruled that the claim that Duro-Bilt was somehow the "instigator" of the veto was of no moment, as it was the mayor, not Duro-Bilt, that vetoed the ordinance. (Tr. p. 104, LL. 15-22.) Finally, the judge also ruled that there was no breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because the Vacation Agreement did not require Duro-Bilt to consent to the easement required by the Nampa Fire Department. (Tr. p. 104, L. 23—p. 105 L. 9.)

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